

State of the art on lung organoids in mammals

Fabienne Archer, Alexandra Bobet-Erny, Maryline Gomes

▶ To cite this version:

Fabienne Archer, Alexandra Bobet-Erny, Maryline Gomes. State of the art on lung organoids in mammals. Veterinary Research, 2021, 52 (1), 10.1186/s13567-021-00946-6. hal-03299075

HAL Id: hal-03299075 https://hal.inrae.fr/hal-03299075v1

Submitted on 5 Mar 2024

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.



Distributed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License

REVIEW



Open Access

State of the art on lung organoids in mammals



Fabienne Archer^{*}, Alexandra Bobet-Erny and Maryline Gomes

Abstract

The number and severity of diseases affecting lung development and adult respiratory function have stimulated great interest in developing new in vitro models to study lung in different species. Recent breakthroughs in 3-dimensional (3D) organoid cultures have led to new physiological in vitro models that better mimic the lung than conventional 2D cultures. Lung organoids simulate multiple aspects of the real organ, making them promising and useful models for studying organ development, function and disease (infection, cancer, genetic disease). Due to their dynamics in culture, they can serve as a sustainable source of functional cells (biobanking) and be manipulated genetically. Given the differences between species regarding developmental kinetics, the maturation of the lung at birth, the distribution of the different cell populations along the respiratory tract and species barriers for infectious diseases, there is a need for species-specific lung models capable of mimicking mammal lungs as they are of great interest for animal health and production, following the One Health approach. This paper reviews the latest developments in the growing field of lung organoids.

Keywords: Lung, Organoid, Stem cells, 3D culture, Infection, In vitro model

Table of Contents

- 1 Introduction
- 2 The complex architecture and cell composition of the lung
- 3 Endogenous stem/progenitor cells of the lung
- 4 Mimicking the lung in vitro
 - 4.1 Organoids derived from embryonic stem cells or induced pluripotent stem cells
 - 4.2 Organoids derived from adult stem cells
- 5 Lung organoids for what?
 - 5.1 Biobanking
 - 5.2 Disease modeling
 - 5.3 Genetic modifications
 - 5.4 Regenerative medicine

*Correspondence: fabienne.archer@inrae.fr UMR754, IVPC, INRAE, EPHE, Univ Lyon, Université Claude Bernard Lyon 1, 69007 Lyon, France

5.5 Infectious diseases

- 6 The future of lung in vitro models
- 7 Conclusions
- References

1 Introduction

Organoids are three-dimensional (3D) multicellular in vitro self-assembled constructs that mimic the corresponding in vivo organ in terms of cell type, structure and function. They are generated from stem cells or progenitors in a process that simulates the molecular and cellular stages of organ development. They are currently developed to mimic multiple organs including the mammary gland, intestine and stomach, liver, kidney, blood vessels, brain, pancreas and lung [1]. In the lung, damage to or disruption of the epithelium that covers the entire respiratory tract can lead to respiratory failure, inflammation or the development of tumors or disabling chronic diseases. Understanding the cellular and molecular mechanisms controlling lung morphogenesis and function



© The Author(s) 2021. This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http://creativecommons.org/publicdomain/

provides the framework for understanding its development, its regeneration and the pathogenesis of acute and chronic lung diseases. Animal models have been instrumental in providing understanding of lung development and diseases. However, given the differences between species, there is a need for species-targeted lung models, and although the need for human models is of great importance regarding human health, we also need to develop models that mimic other mammals which are of great interest for animal health and production, by following the One Health approach.

2 The complex architecture and cell composition of the lung

The lung is a complex organ composed of semi-rigid conducting tubes that branch and narrow from the trachea, bronchi and bronchioles, leading to highly vascularized saccules or alveoli, where respiratory gases are exchanged. The airways are composed of several types of cells primarily resulting from the embryonic neuroectoderm, mesoderm and endoderm. In the mature lung, a wide variety of cell types are found in specific proportions and locations that create the architectural elements on which ventilation depends. This complex structure is protected from continuous exposure to particles, pathogens, and toxicants by the secretion of protective mucus and surfactant, active mucociliary clearance and by a robust innate and acquired immune system. This unique architecture of the mammalian lung is required for adaptation to breathing air at birth and thereafter [2].

In order to accommodate diverse functions, the lung possesses several specialized cell types [2, 3]. The conducting airways are mainly populated by four epithelial cell types: ciliated, goblet, Club cells and basal cells [4]. Ciliated cells have multiple cilia that beat in a synchronous rhythm in order to maintain the flow of mucus across the airway epithelium. Goblet cells are secretory cells that secrete mucus on the surface of the airways. The basal cells are the adult stem cells of the airways. In humans, basal cells line the main bronchi and large bronchioles, but begin to decrease in number in the smaller bronchioles toward the alveoli. Other sparse populations of cells in the airway include club cells, which are secretory cells that secrete lubricating glycosaminoglycans and antimicrobial peptides into the airways, and pulmonary neuroendocrine cells which are innervated on the basal surface and store proteins that are released under a physiological stimulus such as hypoxia. Rare other cell types have been described in the airways, such as ionocytes, pulmonary neuroendocrine cells (PNECs), brush cells and a population of NREP-positive cells [4].

The alveolar epithelium is composed of two epithelial cell types, alveolar epithelial type I cells (AECI) and alveolar epithelial type II cells (AECII). AECIs form a thin, squamous epithelium that covers the majority of the alveolar surface and exchanges gas with neighboring capillaries through diffusion. AECIIs have a cuboidal shape and secrete surfactant proteins to reduce the surface tension of the alveolar sacs, allowing them to expand and contract without collapsing as breathing takes place.

It is noteworthy that lung structure and composition is highly species dependent [5, 6]. In most species the respiratory system develops through prenatal and postnatal life, and there are considerable interspecies differences in the timing and duration of the different steps of their development [7-11]. One of the most interesting points regarding the subject of this paper, is that the cells lining the bronchiolar or more distal portion of the tracheobronchial tree, vary significantly in terms of abundance, the types of cell present, the ultrastructural features of these cells in adult animals, and the secretory products that they produce [12, 13]. For example, in humans, the basal cells containing pseudostratified epithelium extend distally to terminal bronchioles of about 0.5 mm in diameter, and only the respiratory bronchioles are lined by a simple cuboidal epithelium lacking basal cells. By contrast, a pseudostratified epithelium is largely restricted to the mouse trachea, and the transition to a simple columnar epithelium without basal cells occurs in the mainstem bronchi. Thus, the cellular composition and organization of the mouse intrapulmonary airway epithelium essentially resembles only the most distal portions of human conducting airways, whereas the mouse trachea is much more similar to most of the airway generations of the human lung [14]. Another illustration is the difference in composition of ciliated cells: the human respiratory trachea present more ciliated cells (49%) than horse (46%), cow (42%), pig (43%) and sheep (31%) [13]. Another interesting point concerns the age of maturation of the lung, and more precisely the stage of alveolar development at birth which varies quite considerably between species; in mouse and rat it is largely postnatal, whereas in guinea pig, sheep and humans it begins in utero and is relatively advanced at birth [15]. In sheep, lung maturation proceeds rostro-caudally, with the apical of the lobes maturing much earlier than the basal lobes. Most of what we know about lung homeostasis is mainly inferred from rodent studies [2] and to some extent from ovine lungs [16]. Indeed, while the mouse model is traditionally considered the preferred model to mimic the human lung, due to its cost-effectiveness and ease of genetic manipulation, it has its own drawbacks such as the over-representation of Club cells along the airways, late postnatal lung maturation, lack of metastasis and complex analysis of the immune response. For many years, the sheep model has shown interesting proximities to the human lung in

terms of similar anatomy, comparable distribution of differentiated cells, and similar maturation age. These different elements make the sheep a valuable model for human respiratory physiology and diseases, such as surfactant studies in preterm infants/lambs, cancer development, asthma, cystic fibrosis and viral infection [17–21].

3 Endogenous stem/progenitor cells of the lung

The adult lung is a highly quiescent tissue with a slow turn-over rate (<1% per day) of airway and alveolar epithelia [22]. However, following tissue damage, lung has shown an extraordinary regenerative capacity to repair tissue damage and to restore its functions. Although previously based on morphological and ultrastructural studies, the description of the diversity and the complex lineage of the specific stem and progenitor lung cells is becoming increasingly more detailed with advances in cell lineage tracing, flow cytometric analyses, single cell RNA sequencing methods, proteomics, transcriptomics and progress in imaging. Numerous reviews have described the different lung stem cells identified, mainly characterized in humans and mice [15, 22-25]. Descriptions of lung stem cells in other medium and large mammals are still very sparse, except in our work on the identification of ovine bronchioloalveolar progenitors with dual differentiation potential [26].

The proximal airway contains basal stem cells (Trp63+, Krt5+) as progenitors, that are able to self-renew and give rise to secretory (SCGB1a1+), ciliated and neuroen-docrine cells [27–29]. In addition to basal cells, several other cells can respond to injury by gaining in plasticity to act as progenitors and contribute to homeostasis by proliferating and repopulating to replace lost cells. Secretory cells are able to generate new ciliated cells after injury [30].

Similar to the proximal airway, the distal airways and alveolar regions contain both putative, dedicated stem cells and a population of cells that are able to transdifferentiate to regenerate the epithelial layers after injury. At least two subpopulations of bronchiolar Scgb1a1expressing cells, Clara cells, and vClara cells have been described as progenitors [31].

In the mouse, bronchio-alveolar stem cells (BASC) reside at the junction between the distal airway and the alveolus and can give rise to multiple cell types upon injury such as club cells (Scgb1a1+) or AECII (Sftpc+) [32]. However, it is still unclear whether human or other mammal lungs contain BASCs. Additionally, in both the mouse and the human, AECII cells in the alveoli have been shown to act as an alveolar progenitor, proliferating to replenish lost AECII cells after injury, and giving rise to AECI cells in mice [33–35]. Interestingly, AECI cells have also been reported to give rise to AECII cells

in the mouse after injury [36]. Recent evidence suggests that there are also rare stem/progenitor cells in the distal lung that do not express mature lineage markers [lineage negative epithelial progenitors (LNEP)] and that become active in response to severe distal lung injury in mice [37]. Using a single-cell RNA sequencing approach, Travaglini et al. [38] recently proposed a molecular cell atlas of the human lung by which they defined the gene expression profile and anatomical location of not less than 58 different lung cell populations. This atlas could provide the foundation for more in-depth investigation of the varieties of existing lung cells, their functions in development, regeneration and their behavior in responses to disease.

4 Mimicking the lung in vitro

Mimicking the lung in vitro is a rather difficult challenge as it entails: (i) reproducing the complex diversity of airways and different alveolar cell types, (ii) /reproducing specific functions that mimic the upper airway respiratory protection, by secreting specific mucus to filter and trap external materials and by actively removing these trapped materials via an active ciliary beating activity, and (iii) mimicking the alveolar space where essential gas exchanges occur through a thin layer of epithelial cells towards the vascular system.

To date the vast majority of in vitro lung models are developed from mouse and human tissues, with protocols published, describing the method used to isolate and cultivate primary adult lung epithelial cells alone or in coculture, as monolayers, as a polarized epithelium (2D) or at the air-liquid interface (ALI) [39]. Few data are available on other model species, especially those of agronomic interest, but we can point to several papers on porcine [40], bovine [41–44], equine [45] and ovine [26, 46] lung cells. Primary adult differentiated lung epithelial cells remain difficult to isolate due to their low turn-over. They rapidly lose their in vivo phenotype, they can exhibit high variability in cell composition from one isolation or animal to another, and can often only be expanded by dedifferentiation. On the other hand, the few available lung epithelial immortalized cell lines hardly differentiate or retain an epithelial relevant phenotype. Although the precision cut lung slices approach has gained much interest in the study of specific lung diseases (cancer, infection), slices are difficult to maintain in vitro on a long term basis and it is still necessary to slaughter an animal for each set of experiments. From the ethical and societal standpoint, the development of alternative methods to animal experiments is now a necessity. New alternative methods must be able to satisfy one or more principles of the 3Rs rules: replacing (substitution of animal models whenever possible), reduction (reducing the number of animals in experimentation), and refinement (optimizing

the methodology applied to animals). Organoids can overcome the current lack of relevant and efficient in vitro lung models, by taking advantage of stem cell plasticity. Indeed, many of the limitations cited above can be overcome by generating organoids from progenitors, pluripotent stem cells, embryonic stem cells or induced pluripotent stem cells (iPS) that are readily expandable.

4.1 Organoids derived from embryonic stem cells or induced pluripotent stem cells

One of the first descriptions of lung organoid culture was published by Zimmermann in 1987 [47]. By isolating and cultivating cells from mice fetuses, the author was able to generate an organoid structure, with the formation of a lumen in the center of the organized aggregates, cell differentiation towards alveolar AECII (presence of lamellar bodies) and the production of a matrix by the mesenchymal cells surrounding organoids. Although these first experiments opened the door to deriving lung organoids from different species in vitro, the process is still complex and requires mimicking specific steps of differentiation with the activation or inactivation of key signaling pathways regulating developmental patterning in lengthy, sequenced and precise protocols. Indeed, the greatest progress in generating lung organoids has been made by basing the differentiation protocols on the cascade of activated signaling pathways that direct embryonic lung development [48, 49]. Step-by-step approaches were successfully established for the differentiation of embryonic stem cells (ESCs) into functional airways and alveolar cells [50, 51]. In the first step of stem cell induction, Activin-A, which belongs to the transforming growth factor β (TGF β) signaling, plays the key role in activating the germ-layer specification of the endoderm. Then, the main following pathway involved in lung organoid establishment involves Wnt and FGF as effectors of the differentiation, and BMP and TGF as repressors. On top of this, an essential element for obtaining the 3D organization of the cells as organoids, is the culture of the cells into a gelatinous matrix (embedding) resulting from the basement membrane extract, which will physically participate in the architecture of the structure and molecularly in cell maturation.

Induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) are the product of adult somatic cells that are reprogrammed into an embryonic-like state (OCT4+, SOX2+, SSEA4+, TRA1-60+), and their utilization has become an effective strategy as a new source of stem cells and for developing patient-specific lung epithelial cells. As for ESCs, and in order to drive iPSCs into the lung epithelium, it is necessary to follow a stepwise differentiation protocol to generate definitive endoderm (DE) cells (CXCR4+, SOX17+, FOXA2+), then anterior foregut endoderm (AFE) cells (NKX2.1+, PAX9+, SOX2+) and subsequently, to obtain populations of basal, goblet, ciliated, club cells, AECI, and AECII cells. Huang et al. reported an optimized method for generating FOXA2+NKX2.1+ progenitors from human definitive endoderm cells at an efficiency rate of 86% [52]. These progenitors were shown to give rise to basal, club, goblet, ciliated, AECI, and AECII cells both in vivo and in vitro. Human iPSC-derived AECII cells exhibit a self-renewal capacity and could display immune responsiveness [53–55].

Taken together, these protocols give rise to organoids composed of proximal and/or distal pulmonary epithelial populations that can be developed over the long term, amplified, frozen and exposed to different stimuli and analyzed [3, 4, 56–59]. As mentioned above, almost all of the protocols were developed and tested using human and mice models. Presently, no examples of lung organoids from domestic animals using pluripotent stem cells have been published. Based on protocols for human lung organoids as previously listed, we succeeded in deriving bovine lung organoids from embryonic lungs (unpublished results), taken at different stages of maturation (Figure 1). These organoids exhibited ciliary activity and surfactant production, demonstrating the presence of airway and alveolar mature epithelial cells.

4.2 Organoids derived from adult stem cells

To overcome the complexity and cumbersome protocols for the differentiation of pluripotent stem cells (ESCs or iPSCs), new approaches have been developed from adult tissues, taking advantage of the potential of selfrenewal and differentiation of tissue-resident adult stem cells. Among all the epithelial cells lining the respiratory tract, basal cells (tracheobronchial region), club cells and bronchioloalveolar stem cells-BASCs (Brionchiolar region), and AECII cells (Alveolar regions) have shown their capacity to generate organoids in mice and humans (for a review see [56, 60]). Protocols vary with different medium compositions (specific growth hormones, activators or inhibitors of specific pathways), the differential isolation step of specific stem cell/progenitors, coculture with or without stromal cells, and the possible first step of culture in 2D conditions with an air-liquid interface (ALI) before culture in the matrix. The most important factors involved in the generation of lung organoids from adult stem cells involves WNT and FGF as activated pathways, and ROCK, MAPK, TGF and BMP as repressed pathways. More recently, Salahudeen et al. [61] developed a robust feeder-free, chemically-defined culture of distal human lung progenitors as organoids derived clonally from single adult human AECII or KRT5 positive basal cells. AECII organoids exhibited AECI transdifferentiation potential, while basal cell organoids



of C various cell types, such as D ciliated cells of the bronchi and E AECII cells from the alveoli, with typical lamellar bodies (transmission electron microscopy).

progressively developed lumens lined by differentiated club and ciliated cells. In addition to lung tissue removed surgically, organoids could be generated from the culture of lung epithelial cells collected from bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (BALF) [62].

5 Lung organoids for what?

5.1 Biobanking

Cultured organoids may serve as a sustainable source of functional cells. Indeed, lung organoids derived from pluripotent stem cells (hPSCs), including ESC and iPSC, have the potential to make a powerful impact on our understanding and treatment of lung disease in different species. Efforts are currently underway to generate populations of immature lung epithelial and mesenchymal progenitors that can be massively expanded—with the option of storage in a cryobank—and then directed to differentiate efficiently into mature airway and/or alveolar tissues [63]. Generating personalized organoids would also open novel avenues of research into individual responses to therapies, and thus also for the implementation of personalized medicine. Although the molecular mechanisms that drive lung development and repair are likely to be conserved in general between mice and humans, work with early human embryos has already revealed interspecies differences in the transcription factors and ligands that are crucial at certain stages. Therefore, it will be important to examine the expression and function of specific genes in the lung in relevant models when addressing domestic animals.

5.2 Disease modeling

Lung organoids are important resources for modeling diseases. They can be useful for studying genetic pulmonary diseases and lung cancer, and screening appropriate drugs and therapies [64–67]. Cystic fibrosis is a relatively common genetic disease worldwide and is associated with a loss of CFTR gene function (numerous mutations reported), encoding a chloride channel regulating the mucosal environment. It has been shown that airway organoids from patients with cystic fibrosis recapitulate central disease features, with reduced forskolin-induced swelling and response to CFTR modulators VX-770 and VX-809 [62]. Another important lung disease that can be modeled with organoids is idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis

IPF. This disease is characterized by progressive fibrotic scarring in the lung tissue surrounding the air sacs, ultimately leading to dyspnea. TGF- β is upregulated and activated in IPF and modulates fibroblast phenotype and function in the lung. Using 3D lung organoids from patients with IPF, Surolia et al. observed that inhibiting the assembly of vimentin intermediate filaments reduced the invasiveness of lung fibroblasts in the majority of the subjects tested [68].

Lung cancer remains the most commonly diagnosed cancer and the leading cause of cancer death worldwide. Organoids established from human lung cancer resections and metastasis biopsies retain tumor histopathology as well as cancer gene mutations and are amenable to drug screening [62, 69]. Sachs et al. have shown that individual tumor alveolar organoids (AOs) vary greatly in their respective responses in line with their mutational profile. Regarding their specific and individual mutation for p53, ERBB2 and ALK1, the different AOs were more or less sensitive to treatment with the p53-stabilizing drug Nutlin-3a, to EGFR/ERBB2 and to ALK/ROS inhibitors, respectively [62]. These different examples demonstrate that organoids can recapitulate lung dysfunctions and tumor histology in vitro, and serve as platforms to screen drugs and molecular therapeutic correctives approaches.

5.3 Genetic modifications

The possibility of deriving pulmonary organoids from different species, and from different individuals, whether healthy or carriers of a genetic disease, opens up the possibility of molecular corrective therapeutic approaches. The first demonstration of functional repair of an organoid was performed by targeting a defective receptor, the cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductor receptor (CFTR), which is associated with cystic fibrosis disease. The authors used the CRISPR/Cas9 genome editing system to correct the CFTR locus by homologous recombination in the intestinal organoids of CF patients [70]. More recently, the Xu's team demonstrated that gene correction using CRISPR/Cas9 tool, could restore CFTR function in iPSC-derived proximal lung organoid cells [71]. Using CRISPR/-Cas9 to introduce frameshift mutations in Hermansky-Pudlak syndrome (HPS) genes, Strikoudis et al. generated human ESC-derived lung organoids that presented fibrotic changes, mimicking IPF and thus providing a platform for identifying pathogenic mechanisms of this disease [66].

5.4 Regenerative medicine

One long-term goal of organoid technology may be in regenerative medicine. An initial approach could benefit transplantation as cultured organoids could be used as a sustainable source of functional cells, but several hurdles remain to be overcome (safety of the cells, capacity to generate neoplasms, efficient protocols, etc.). In the shorter term, better comprehension of the molecular mechanisms driving lung development and stem cell activation and differentiation could help to solve the imbalances in lung cell composition that are observed, for example, in smokers and in Chronic Obstructive diseases (COPD) that present hyperplasia of basal cells. Targeting or inhibiting specific pathways such as Hedgehog, Notch, and retinoic acid could help to control the balance between basal and luminal cells, and increase number of ciliated cells at the expense of club cells [25]. Lung organoids could help to validate the efficacy of these therapies and restore balanced lung function.

5.5 Infectious diseases

Respiratory diseases have a very high impact on human and animal health. Moreover, these diseases are among the most economically important diseases affecting cattle on a worldwide basis. Mainly due to respiratory infections, they result in poor animal welfare, economic losses and increased antibiotic consumption. The lungs are constantly exposed to the external environment and the infectious and toxic agents present in the air. Both viral and bacterial pathogens trigger damage to the lung epithelial cells, leading to the alteration of respiratory efficiency and in some cases to severe illness of the animal affected. Those threats represent key health and economic issues for cattle, including bovine tuberculosis and bronchopneumonia, two major pathologies. These bovine diseases have their human counterparts, namely bronchiolitis in infants and human tuberculosis. Tuberculosis remains a great health threat to the global population, with nearly 10 million new mycobacterium tuberculosis infections reported annually over the past 5 years, according to a WHO TB report. Other pathogens such as Influenza viruses can strongly impact human and/or animal health, by altering the airway and alveolar epithelium. Faced with constant environmental modifications and evolutions of pathogens, better understanding of the physio-pathological processes of infection remains one of the main goals for controlling, preventing and treating these diseases. Better knowledge of how pathogens target and interact with specific population of lung cells is necessary to fight them more efficiently. Moreover, being able to predict the pathogenicity of different circulating or emerging strains of viruses and bacteria could help to develop preventive and curative measures.

Human and medium/large mammal models are preferable to mice models when studying infectious disease pathogenesis, because pathogens often have a narrow species or tissue tropism; that is, they infect only certain

species, and sometimes only specific cell types. Lung organoids have shown their suitability as models for studying respiratory viruses. Human parainfluenza virus (HPIV) and respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) were shown to successfully infect human airway organoids [72] and, in the case of RSV, to cause dramatic changes in epithelial morphology and function, with increased motility of airway epithelial cells [62]. Differentiated airway organoids were used to predict the infectivity of emerging respiratory viruses such as human and avian influenza viruses [73-75] and are currently under investigation for emerging zoonotic coronaviruses such as SARS-CoV-2 [61, 76–78]. Given the crucial capacity of some respiratory pathogens to induce devastating pandemics in farm animals and, in the case of certain of them to pass on to humans and induce major zoonosis, developing species specific respiratory organoids will help to better understand and predict animal and human infectious diseases. These complex cellular platforms could be used to screen therapeutic drugs as well as anti-microbial drugs [62].

If the field of respiratory infectious diseases, virologists are taking increasing advantage of organoid models as platforms to decipher the mechanisms of viral infection, cell deregulation and drug screening/development, but there is still much to do regarding bacterial [79], and parasitic infections. Mention can be made of a recent study from Heo et al., who took advantage of organoids to elucidate the interaction of a human protozoan parasite, Cryptosporidium, with intestinal and lung epithelia, the two main sites of infection [80]. Studies of parasites, including the development of effective treatments, are often hampered by the lack of a robust in vitro system that recapitulates the life cycle in the host. Authors have shown that after injection of Cryptosporidium oocysts into the organoid lumen, the parasite propagates within the organoids and completes its complex life cycle. Using a transcriptomic approach, they highlighted the importance of interferon-I signaling in response to Cryptosporidium infection [80].

We expect in the future that more respiratory pathogens or co-cultures of pathogens, completed at some point with lung microbiota (commensal and symbiotic microorganisms), will be explored, as it is currently being done in gastrointestinal organoids [81, 82].

6 The future of lung in vitro models

Progress is being made in establishing organoid cultures in which multiple cell types (stromal, endothelial, immune, nerve cells) are combined, and this will help to establish how cell types interact in vivo and how they are affected by injury, inflammation, infection and aging (see for example [83, 84]). However, progress in lung organoid models will require the identification of more surface markers and/or reporters for isolating and purifying subpopulations of stem and progenitor cells and stromal support cells.

It is also likely that extracellular matrix components and physical forces play key roles in regulating stem cell behavior and differentiation, and these parameters are also beginning to be explored using organoid systems. The extracellular matrix (ECM) in the native lung is intricate and complex, and shapes the cell microenvironment by providing structural cues, regulating access to soluble growth factors and controlling cell adhesion and migration. In an effort to create a hospitable environment for human lung cells to thrive, researchers have turned to bioengineering approaches to create a variety of structural scaffolds (Matrigel, collagen, synthetic material such as PLGA...) and microenvironments to reproducibly mimic the lung [83].

To model the mechanical forces of the lung such as stretching, bioengineers are developing innovative microsystems called "lungs-on-a-chip", in which the location and mechanical force placed on each cell are painstakingly defined to model both the small airway and the stretching occurring in the alveolar compartment. In the alveolar lung-on-a chip, structural, functional, and mechanical elements of the interface between the alveoli and the capillary network were modeled by microfabricating a microfluidic device that contains two channels separated by a thin flexible membrane coated with ECM proteins. Vascular endothelial cells were cultured in one chamber, and alveolar epithelial cells that could also be exposed to air were cultured in the other. Controlled regulation of membrane stretching and fluid flows through the vascular chamber allowed studying the passage of materials, nutrients or pathogens from the alveolar region to the vascular compartment. These model systems are the only systems to incorporate controlled mechanical stretching and liquid flow control to simulate physiological function at the organ level [85-87]. Once again, all of these developments are currently being carried out in human models, but they should also benefit other mammal species.

7 Conclusions

Organoids are three-dimensional multicellular structure that reproduces the microanatomy of life-size lungs in vitro. They can be developed using different source of stem cells (embryonic, iPS, adult) and they provide a realistic, animal testing-free method to study tissue and organ development. One of the most common applications of lung organoids is to study how cells respond to infections. And another growing field is the study of respiratory diseases resulting from genetic modifications or physiological alterations. To date, these new efficient in vitro models are mainly developed in human, but efforts must be made to ensure that they can benefit to domestic animals and bring new tools in line with the species of interest. To conclude, the array of different organoids that can be used to model various aspects of lung development, homeostasis, regeneration and disease represents an exciting new avenue for pursuing remaining questions in the lung biology of various species of interest.

Acknowledgements

English writing of the manuscript has been corrected by Accent Europe company (Ecully, France).

Authors' contributions

FA has a major role in writing the manuscript. AE and MG have read and have proposed modifications and implementations. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Authors' informations

FA, as a researcher at INRAE, has a long term experience in developing in vitro models to mimic different organs (muscle, nervous system, lung) from human, mice and farm animals in order to better understand the physiopathology and the response of the host to stress conditions (homeostasis alteration, regeneration or infections (prion, virus)).

Funding

This work was supported by a Grant from ANR, with the project EpiLungCell (ANR-17-CE20-0018-02) which objective was to establish ruminant's cellular models for the study of respiratory pathogens. Furthermore, these innovative approaches are financially supported by other grants from ANR (COVID-NanoMed) and from the FINOVI foundation (MYCO3DLung) to study their response to infection by different respiratory pathogens.

Declarations

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Received: 18 December 2020 Accepted: 4 May 2021 Published online: 02 June 2021

References

- Kim J, Koo BK, Knoblich JA (2020) Human organoids: model systems for human biology and medicine. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 21:571–584. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41580-020-0259-3
- Whitsett JA, Kalin TV, Xu Y, Kalinichenko VV (2019) Building and regenerating the lung cell by cell. Physiol Rev 99:513–554. https://doi.org/10.1152/ physrev.00001.2018
- Dye BR, Miller AJ, Spence JR (2016) How to grow a lung: applying principles of developmental biology to generate lung lineages from human pluripotent stem cells. Curr Pathobiol Rep 4:47–57. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s40139-016-0102-x
- Deprez M, Zaragosi LE, Truchi M, Becavin C, Ruiz Garcia S, Arguel MJ, Plaisant M, Magnone V, Lebrigand K, Abelanet S, Brau F, Paquet A, Pe'er D, Marquette CH, Leroy S, Barbry P (2020) A single-cell atlas of the human healthy airways. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 202:1636–1645. https://doi. org/10.1164/rccm.201911-2199OC
- Plopper CG, Mariassy AT, Lollini LO (1983) Structure as revealed by airway dissection. A comparison of mammalian lungs. Am Rev Respir Dis 128:S4-7. https://doi.org/10.1164/arrd.1983.128.2P2.S4
- Warburton D, Schwarz M, Tefft D, Flores-Delgado G, Anderson KD, Cardoso WV (2000) The molecular basis of lung morphogenesis. Mech Dev 92:55–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0925-4773(99)00325-1

- Shannon JM, Hyatt BA (2004) Epithelial-mesenchymal interactions in the developing lung. Ann Rev Physiol 66:625–645. https://doi.org/10.1146/ annurev.physiol.66.032102.135749
- Warburton D, Bellusci S, De Langhe S, Del Moral PM, Fleury V, Mailleux A, Tefft D, Unbekandt M, Wang K, Shi W (2005) Molecular mechanisms of early lung specification and branching morphogenesis. Pediatr Res 57:26R-37R. https://doi.org/10.1203/01.PDR.0000159570.01327.ED
- 9. Que J, Choi M, Ziel JW, Klingensmith J, Hogan BL (2006) Morphogenesis of the trachea and esophagus: current players and new roles for noggin and Bmps. Differentiation 74:422–437. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1432-0436.2006.00096.x
- Cardoso WV, Lu J (2006) Regulation of early lung morphogenesis: questions, facts and controversies. Development 133:1611–1624. https://doi. org/10.1242/dev.02310
- 11. Maeda Y, Dave V, Whitsett JA (2007) Transcriptional control of lung morphogenesis. Physiol Rev 87:219–244. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev. 00028.2006
- 12. Plopper CG, Hyde DM (2015) Epithelial cells of the bronchiole. In: Parent RA (ed) Comparative biology of the normal lung. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 83–92
- Reynolds SD, Pinkerton KE, Mariassy AT (2015) Epithelial cells of trachea and bronchi. In: Parent RA (ed) Comparative biology of the normal lung. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 61–81
- Rock JR, Randell SH, Hogan BLM (2010) Airway basal stem cells: a perspective on their roles in epithelial homeostasis and remodeling. Dis Model Mech 3:545–556. https://doi.org/10.1242/dmm.006031
- Morrisey EE, Hogan BL (2010) Preparing for the first breath: genetic and cellular mechanisms in lung development. Dev Cell 18:8–23. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.devcel.2009.12.010
- Flecknoe SJ, Wallace MJ, Cock ML, Harding R, Hooper SB (2003) Changes in alveolar epithelial cell proportions during fetal and postnatal development in sheep. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 285:L664-670. https:// doi.org/10.1152/ajplung.00306.2002
- Fan Z, Perisse IV, Cotton CU, Regouski M, Meng Q, Domb C, Van Wettere AJ, Wang Z, Harris A, White KL, Polejaeva IA (2018) A sheep model of cystic fibrosis generated by CRISPR/Cas9 disruption of the CFTR gene. JCI Insight 3:e123529. https://doi.org/10.1172/jci.insight.123529
- Wooldridge AL, Clifton VL, Moss TJM, Lu H, Jamali M, Agostino S, Muhlhausler BS, Morrison JL, De Matteo R, Wallace MJ, Bischof RJ, Gatford KL (2019) Maternal allergic asthma during pregnancy alters fetal lung and immune development in sheep: potential mechanisms for programming asthma and allergy. J Physiol 597:4251–4262. https://doi.org/10.1113/ JP277952
- Gray ME, Sullivan P, Marland JRK, Greenhalgh SN, Meehan J, Gregson R, Clutton RE, Cousens C, Griffiths DJ, Murray A, Argyle D (2019) A novel translational ovine pulmonary adenocarcinoma model for human lung cancer. Front Oncol 9:534. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2019.00534
- Sitthicharoenchai P, Alnajjar S, Ackermann MR (2020) A model of respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) infection of infants in newborn lambs. Cell Tissue Res 380:313–324. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00441-020-03213-w
- Varela M, Golder M, Archer F, de las Heras M, Leroux C, Palmarini M, (2008) A large animal model to evaluate the effects of Hsp90 inhibitors for the treatment of lung adenocarcinoma. Virology 371:206–215. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.virol.2007.09.041
- Kotton DN, Morrisey EE (2014) Lung regeneration: mechanisms, applications and emerging stem cell populations. Nat Med 20:822–832. https:// doi.org/10.1038/nm.3642
- 23. Rawlins EL, Hogan BL (2006) Epithelial stem cells of the lung: privileged few or opportunities for many? Development 133:2455–2465
- 24. Rackley CR, Stripp BR (2012) Building and maintaining the epithelium of the lung. J Clin Invest 122:2724–2730. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCl60519
- Schilders KA, Eenjes E, van Riet S, Poot AA, Stamatialis D, Truckenmuller R, Hiemstra PS, Rottier RJ (2016) Regeneration of the lung: lung stem cells and the development of lung mimicking devices. Respir Res 17:44. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12931-016-0358-z
- Archer F, Abi-Rizk A, Desloire S, Dolmazon C, Gineys B, Guiguen F, Cottin V, Mornex JF, Leroux C (2013) Lung progenitors from lambs can differentiate into specialized alveolar or bronchiolar epithelial cells. BMC Vet Res 9:224. https://doi.org/10.1186/1746-6148-9-224
- 27. Hong KU, Reynolds SD, Watkins S, Fuchs E, Stripp BR (2004) In vivo differentiation potential of tracheal basal cells: evidence for multipotent and

unipotent subpopulations. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 286:L643-649. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajplung.00155.2003

- Rock JR, Onaitis MW, Rawlins EL, Lu Y, Clark CP, Xue Y, Randell SH, Hogan BL (2009) Basal cells as stem cells of the mouse trachea and human airway epithelium. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:12771–12775. https://doi. org/10.1073/pnas.0906850106
- 29. Rock JR, Gao X, Xue Y, Randell SH, Kong YY, Hogan BL (2011) Notchdependent differentiation of adult airway basal stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 8:639–648. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2011.04.003
- Rawlins EL, Okubo T, Xue Y, Brass DM, Auten RL, Hasegawa H, Wang F, Hogan BL (2009) The role of Scgb1a1+ Clara cells in the long-term maintenance and repair of lung airway, but not alveolar, epithelium. Cell Stem Cell 4:525–534. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2009.04.002
- Chen H, Matsumoto K, Brockway BL, Rackley CR, Liang J, Lee JH, Jiang D, Noble PW, Randell SH, Kim CF, Stripp BR (2012) Airway epithelial progenitors are region specific and show differential responses to bleomycininduced lung injury. Stem Cells 30:1948–1960. https://doi.org/10.1002/ stem.1150
- Kim CF, Jackson EL, Woolfenden AE, Lawrence S, Babar I, Vogel S, Crowley D, Bronson RT, Jacks T (2005) Identification of bronchioalveolar stem cells in normal lung and lung cancer. Cell 121:823–835. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.cell.2005.03.032
- Barkauskas CE, Cronce MJ, Rackley CR, Bowie EJ, Keene DR, Stripp BR, Randell SH, Noble PW, Hogan BL (2013) Type 2 alveolar cells are stem cells in adult lung. J Clin Invest 123:3025–3036. https://doi.org/10.1172/jci68 782
- Desai TJ, Brownfield DG, Krasnow MA (2014) Alveolar progenitor and stem cells in lung development, renewal and cancer. Nature 507:190– 194. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature12930
- Zacharias WJ, Frank DB, Zepp JA, Morley MP, Alkhaleel FA, Kong J, Zhou S, Cantu E, Morrisey EE (2018) Regeneration of the lung alveolus by an evolutionarily conserved epithelial progenitor. Nature 555:251–255. https:// doi.org/10.1038/nature25786
- Jain R, Barkauskas CE, Takeda N, Bowie EJ, Aghajanian H, Wang Q, Padmanabhan A, Manderfield LJ, Gupta M, Li D, Li L, Trivedi CM, Hogan BLM, Epstein JA (2015) Plasticity of Hopx(+) type I alveolar cells to regenerate type II cells in the lung. Nat Commun 6:6727. https://doi.org/10.1038/ ncomms7727
- Vaughan AE, Brumwell AN, Xi Y, Gotts JE, Brownfield DG, Treutlein B, Tan K, Tan V, Liu FC, Looney MR, Matthay MA, Rock JR, Chapman HA (2015) Lineage-negative progenitors mobilize to regenerate lung epithelium after major injury. Nature 517:621–625. https://doi.org/10.1038/natur e14112
- Travaglini KJ, Nabhan AN, Penland L, Sinha R, Gillich A, Sit RV, Chang S, Conley SD, Mori Y, Seita J, Berry GJ, Shrager JB, Metzger RJ, Kuo CS, Neff N, Weissman IL, Quake SR, Krasnow MA (2020) A molecular cell atlas of the human lung from single-cell RNA sequencing. Nature 587:619–625. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-020-2922-4
- Jiang D, Schaefer N, Chu HW (2018) Air-liquid interface culture of human and mouse airway epithelial cells. Methods Mol Biol 1809:91–109. https:// doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-8570-8_8
- Xie X, Gan Y, Pang M, Shao G, Zhang L, Liu B, Xu Q, Wang H, Feng Y, Yu Y, Chen R, Wu M, Zhang Z, Hua L, Xiong Q, Liu M, Feng Z (2018) Establishment and characterization of a telomerase-immortalized porcine bronchial epithelial cell line. J Cell Physiol 233:9763–9776. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/jcp.26942
- Cozens D, Grahame E, Sutherland E, Taylor G, Berry CC, Davies RL (2018) Development and optimization of a differentiated airway epithelial cell model of the bovine respiratory tract. Sci Rep 8:853. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41598-017-19079-y
- Cozens D, Sutherland E, Marchesi F, Taylor G, Berry CC, Davies RL (2018) Temporal differentiation of bovine airway epithelial cells grown at an air-liquid interface. Sci Rep 8:14893. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41598-018-33180-w
- Lee DF, Salguero FJ, Grainger D, Francis RJ, MacLellan-Gibson K, Chambers MA (2018) Isolation and characterisation of alveolar type II pneumocytes from adult bovine lung. Sci Rep 8:11927. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41598-018-30234-x
- 44. Lee D, Chambers M (2019) A co-culture model of the bovine alveolus. F1000Res 8:357. https://doi.org/10.12688/f1000research.18696.2

- 45. Abs V, Bonicelli J, Kacza J, Zizzadoro C, Abraham G (2019) Equine bronchial fibroblasts enhance proliferation and differentiation of primary equine bronchial epithelial cells co-cultured under air-liquid interface. PLoS One 14:e0225025. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0225025
- Archer F, Jacquier E, Lyon M, Chastang J, Cottin V, Mornex JF, Leroux C (2007) Alveolar type II cells isolated from pulmonary adenocarcinoma: a model for JSRV expression in vitro. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 36:534–540. https://doi.org/10.1165/rcmb.2006-02850C
- 47. Zimmermann B (1987) Lung organoid culture. Differentiation 36:86–109. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1432-0436.1987.tb00183.x
- Chung MI, Bujnis M, Barkauskas CE, Kobayashi Y, Hogan BLM (2018) Niche-mediated BMP/SMAD signaling regulates lung alveolar stem cell proliferation and differentiation. Development 145:dev163014. https:// doi.org/10.1242/dev.163014
- Tadokoro T, Gao X, Hong CC, Hotten D, Hogan BL (2016) BMP signaling and cellular dynamics during regeneration of airway epithelium from basal progenitors. Development 143:764–773. https://doi.org/10.1242/ dev.126656
- Longmire TA, Ikonomou L, Hawkins F, Christodoulou C, Cao Y, Jean JC, Kwok LW, Mou H, Rajagopal J, Shen SS, Dowton AA, Serra M, Weiss DJ, Green MD, Snoeck HW, Ramirez MI, Kotton DN (2012) Efficient derivation of purified lung and thyroid progenitors from embryonic stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 10:398–411. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2012.01.019
- Wang D, Haviland DL, Burns AR, Zsigmond E, Wetsel RA (2007) A pure population of lung alveolar epithelial type II cells derived from human embryonic stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 104:4449–4454. https://doi. org/10.1073/pnas.0700052104
- Huang SX, Islam MN, O'Neill J, Hu Z, Yang YG, Chen YW, Mumau M, Green MD, Vunjak-Novakovic G, Bhattacharya J, Snoeck HW (2014) Efficient generation of lung and airway epithelial cells from human pluripotent stem cells. Nat Biotechnol 32:84–91. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.2754
- Ghaedi M, Calle EA, Mendez JJ, Gard AL, Balestrini J, Booth A, Bove PF, Gui L, White ES, Niklason LE (2013) Human iPS cell-derived alveolar epithelium repopulates lung extracellular matrix. J Clin Invest 123:4950–4962. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI68793
- 54. Jacob A, Morley M, Hawkins F, McCauley KB, Jean JC, Heins H, Na CL, Weaver TE, Vedaie M, Hurley K, Hinds A, Russo SJ, Kook S, Zacharias W, Ochs M, Traber K, Quinton LJ, Crane A, Davis BR, White FV, Wambach J, Whitsett JA, Cole FS, Morrisey EE, Guttentag SH, Beers MF, Kotton DN (2017) Differentiation of human pluripotent stem cells into functional lung alveolar epithelial cells. Cell Stem Cell 21:472-488.e10. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.stem.2017.08.014
- 55. Yamamoto Y, Gotoh S, Korogi Y, Seki M, Konishi S, Ikeo S, Sone N, Nagasaki T, Matsumoto H, Muro S, Ito I, Hirai T, Kohno T, Suzuki Y, Mishima M (2017) Long-term expansion of alveolar stem cells derived from human iPS cells in organoids. Nat Methods 14:1097–1106. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth. 4448
- Barkauskas CE, Chung MI, Fioret B, Gao X, Katsura H, Hogan BL (2017) Lung organoids: current uses and future promise. Development 144:986–997. https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.140103
- 57. Chen Y-W, Huang SX, de Carvalho ALRT, Ho S-H, Islam MN, Volpi S, Notarangelo LD, Ciancanelli M, Casanova J-L, Bhattacharya J, Liang AF, Palermo LM, Porotto M, Moscona A, Snoeck H-W (2017) A three-dimensional model of human lung development and disease from pluripotent stem cells. Nat Cell Biol 19:542–549. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb3510n
- Li Y, Wu Q, Sun X, Shen J, Chen H (2020) Organoids as a powerful model for respiratory diseases. Stem Cells Int 2020;5847876. https://doi.org/10. 1155/2020/5847876
- Miller AJ, Dye BR, Ferrer-Torres D, Hill DR, Overeem AW, Shea LD, Spence JR (2019) Generation of lung organoids from human pluripotent stem cells in vitro. Nat Protoc 14:518–540. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41596-018-0104-8
- 60. Choi J, lich E, Lee J-H (2016) Organogenesis of adult lung in a dish: differentiation, disease and therapy. Dev Biol 420:278–286
- 61. Salahudeen AA, Choi SS, Rustagi A, Zhu J, van Unen V, de la O S, Flynn RA, Margalef-Catala M, Santos AJM, Ju J, Batish A, Usui T, Zheng GXY, Edwards CE, Wagar LE, Luca V, Anchang B, Nagendran M, Nguyen K, Hart DJ, Terry JM, Belgrader P, Ziraldo SB, Mikkelsen TS, Harbury PB, Glenn JS, Garcia KC, Davis MM, Baric RS, Sabatti C et al (2020) Progenitor identification and SARS-CoV-2 infection in human distal lung organoids. Nature 588:670– 675. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-020-3014-1

- 62. Sachs N, Papaspyropoulos A, Zomer-van Ommen DD, Heo I, Bottinger L, Klay D, Weeber F, Huelsz-Prince G, lakobachvili N, Amatngalim GD, de Ligt J, van Hoeck A, Proost N, Viveen MC, Lyubimova A, Teeven L, Derakhshan S, Korving J, Begthel H, Dekkers JF, Kumawat K, Ramos E, van Oosterhout MF, Offerhaus GJ, Wiener DJ, Olimpio EP, Dijkstra KK, Smit EF, van der Linden M, Jaksani S et al (2019) Long-term expanding human airway organoids for disease modeling. EMBO J 38:e100300. https://doi.org/10. 15252/embj.2018100300
- Paschini M, Kim CF (2019) An airway organoid is forever. EMBO J 38:e101526. https://doi.org/10.15252/embj.2019101526
- 64. Clevers H (2016) Modeling development and disease with organoids. Cell 165:1586–1597. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2016.05.082
- 65. Ramamoorthy P, Thomas SM, Kaushik G, Subramaniam D, Chastain KM, Dhar A, Tawfik O, Kasi A, Sun W, Ramalingam S, Gunewardena S, Umar S, Mammen JM, Padhye SB, Weir SJ, Jensen RA, Sittampalam GS, Anant S (2019) Metastatic tumor-in-a-dish, a novel multicellular organoid to study lung colonization and predict therapeutic response. Cancer Res 79:1681–1695. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-18-2602
- Strikoudis A, Cieslak A, Loffredo L, Chen YW, Patel N, Saqi A, Lederer DJ, Snoeck HW (2019) Modeling of fibrotic lung disease using 3D organoids derived from human pluripotent stem cells. Cell Rep 27:3709-3723.e3705. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2019.05.077
- Wang J, Li X, Chen H (2020) Organoid models in lung regeneration and cancer. Cancer Lett 475:129–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2020.01. 030
- Surolia R, Li FJ, Wang Z, Li H, Dsouza K, Thomas V, Mirov S, Perez-Sala D, Athar M, Thannickal VJ, Antony VB (2019) Vimentin intermediate filament assembly regulates fibroblast invasion in fibrogenic lung injury. JCI Insight 4:e123253. https://doi.org/10.1172/jci.insight.123253
- Kim M, Mun H, Sung CO, Cho EJ, Jeon HJ, Chun SM, Jung DJ, Shin TH, Jeong GS, Kim DK, Choi EK, Jeong SY, Taylor AM, Jain S, Meyerson M, Jang SJ (2019) Patient-derived lung cancer organoids as in vitro cancer models for therapeutic screening. Nat Commun 10:3991. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41467-019-11867-6
- Schwank G, Koo BK, Sasselli V, Dekkers JF, Heo I, Demircan T, Sasaki N, Boymans S, Cuppen E, van der Ent CK, Nieuwenhuis EE, Beekman JM, Clevers H (2013) Functional repair of CFTR by CRISPR/Cas9 in intestinal stem cell organoids of cystic fibrosis patients. Cell Stem Cell 13:653–658. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2013.11.002
- Ruan J, Hirai H, Yang D, Ma L, Hou X, Jiang H, Wei H, Rajagopalan C, Mou H, Wang G, Zhang J, Li K, Chen YE, Sun F, Xu J (2019) Efficient gene editing at major CFTR mutation loci. Mol Ther Nucleic Acids 16:73–81. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.omtn.2019.02.006
- 72. Porotto M, Ferren M, Chen YW, Siu Y, Makhsous N, Rima B, Briese T, Greninger AL, Snoeck HW, Moscona A (2019) Authentic modeling of human respiratory virus infection in human pluripotent stem cell-derived lung organoids. MBio 10:e00723-19. https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.00723-19
- Hui KPY, Ching RHH, Chan SKH, Nicholls JM, Sachs N, Clevers H, Peiris JSM, Chan MCW (2018) Tropism, replication competence, and innate immune responses of influenza virus: an analysis of human airway organoids and ex-vivo bronchus cultures. Lancet Respir Med 6:846–854. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S2213-2600(18)30236-4
- Zhou J, Li C, Sachs N, Chiu MC, Wong BH, Chu H, Poon VK, Wang D, Zhao X, Wen L, Song W, Yuan S, Wong KK, Chan JF, To KK, Chen H, Clevers H, Yuen KY (2018) Differentiated human airway organoids to assess infectivity of emerging influenza virus. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 115:6822–6827. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1806308115
- Bui CHT, Chan RWY, Ng MMT, Cheung MC, Ng KC, Chan MPK, Chan LLY, Fong JHM, Nicholls JM, Peiris JSM, Chan MCW (2019) Tropism of influenza B viruses in human respiratory tract explants and airway organoids. Eur Respir J 54:190008. https://doi.org/10.1183/13993003.00008-2019

- Lamers MM, van der Vaart J, Knoops K, Riesebosch S, Breugem TI, Mykytyn AZ, Beumer J, Schipper D, Bezstarosti K, Koopman CD, Groen
- N, Ravelli RBG, Duimel HQ, Demmers JAA, Verjans G, Koopmans MPG, Muraro MJ, Peters PJ, Clevers H, Haagmans BL (2021) An organoid-derived bronchioalveolar model for SARS-CoV-2 infection of human alveolar type II-like cells. EMBO J 40:e105912. https://doi.org/10.15252/embj.20201 05912
- 77. Han Y, Duan X, Yang L, Nilsson-Payant BE, Wang P, Duan F, Tang X, Yaron TM, Zhang T, Uhl S, Bram Y, Richardson C, Zhu J, Zhao Z, Redmond D, Houghton S, Nguyen DT, Xu D, Wang X, Jessurun J, Borczuk A, Huang Y, Johnson JL, Liu Y, Xiang J, Wang H, Cantley LC, tenOever BR, Ho DD, Pan FC, Evans T, Chen HJ, Schwartz RE, Chen S (2021) Identification of SARS-CoV-2 inhibitors using lung and colonic organoids. Nature 589:270–275. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-020-2901-9
- Wang J, Li X, Wang A, Zhao F, Wu Q, Li L, Yu H, Wu J, Chen H (2020) Organoid technology demonstrates effects of potential drugs for COVID-19 on the lung regeneration. Cell Prolif 53:e12928. https://doi.org/10.1111/ cpr.12928
- Fonseca KL, Rodrigues PNS, Olsson IAS, Saraiva M (2017) Experimental study of tuberculosis: from animal models to complex cell systems and organoids. PLoS Pathog 13:e1006421. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. ppat.1006421
- Heo I, Dutta D, Schaefer DA, Iakobachvili N, Artegiani B, Sachs N, Boonekamp KE, Bowden G, Hendrickx APA, Willems RJL, Peters PJ, Riggs MW, O'Connor R, Clevers H (2018) Modelling Cryptosporidium infection in human small intestinal and lung organoids. Nat Microbiol 3:814–823. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41564-018-0177-8
- Min S, Kim S, Cho SW (2020) Gastrointestinal tract modeling using organoids engineered with cellular and microbiota niches. Exp Mol Med 52:227–237. https://doi.org/10.1038/s12276-020-0386-0
- Williamson IA, Arnold JW, Samsa LA, Gaynor L, DiSalvo M, Cocchiaro JL, Carroll I, Azcarate-Peril MA, Rawls JF, Allbritton NL, Magness ST (2018) A high-throughput organoid microinjection platform to study gastrointestinal microbiota and luminal physiology. Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol 6:301–319. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcmgh.2018.05.004
- Shojaie S, Ermini L, Ackerley C, Wang J, Chin S, Yeganeh B, Bilodeau M, Sambi M, Rogers I, Rossant J, Bear CE, Post M (2015) Acellular lung scaffolds direct differentiation of endoderm to functional airway epithelial cells: requirement of matrix-bound HS proteoglycans. Stem Cell Rep 4:419–430. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stemcr.2015.01.004
- Leeman KT, Pessina P, Lee JH, Kim CF (2019) Mesenchymal stem cells increase alveolar differentiation in lung progenitor organoid cultures. Sci Rep 9:6479. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-42819-1
- Nichols JE, Niles JA, Vega SP, Argueta LB, Eastaway A, Cortiella J (2014) Modeling the lung: design and development of tissue engineered macro- and micro-physiologic lung models for research use. Exp Biol Med 239:1135–1169. https://doi.org/10.1177/1535370214536679
- Ishahak M, Hill J, Amin Q, Wubker L, Hernandez A, Mitrofanova A, Sloan A, Fornoni A, Agarwal A (2020) Modular microphysiological system for modeling of biologic barrier function. Front Bioeng Biotechnol 8:581163. https://doi.org/10.3389/fbioe.2020.581163
- Pasman T, Baptista D, van Riet S, Truckenmuller RK, Hiemstra PS, Rottier RJ, Stamatialis D, Poot AA (2020) Development of porous and flexible PTMC membranes for in vitro organ models fabricated by evaporation-induced phase separation. Membranes 10:330. https://doi.org/10.3390/membr anes10110330

Publisher's Note

Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.